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A Doctrinal Stepping Stone

From the opinion authored by Justice Cardozo in the famous New York Court of Appeals decision in Adams v. Bullock,
 the reader gets a mental image of a boy walking on a bridge, long metal wire in hand, under which a high voltage wire is strung.  Reading this telling of the facts, one imagines this child swinging his wire out over the edge of the bridge and back under it to come into contact with the otherwise inaccessible electrified wires. It seems, from the language of the decision, that at any point along the trolley car line a child swinging such a wire could have come into contact with the wires and electrocuted himself.  This brief, necessarily simplified version of the facts makes Justice Cardozo’s conclusion that the jury verdict for the plaintiff cannot stand seem eminently reasonable, almost inevitable.  As with so many other cases that have given rise to classic appellate decisions, the Court of Appeals’ decision gives only a fraction of the story, and paints a picture different from that of the trial court records.  Nonetheless, this decision, with its strange fact pattern and compelling writing style, has captured the imagination of law students and casebook authors alike.  While many law students may not recall Adams v. Bullock by name, many need hear no more than, “The one about the kid swinging the wire,” to remember the case.  But why?


Adams v. Bullock, unlike many other famous cases, does not by itself represent a groundbreaking case in tort law, ushering in a new era or reconceptualizing a fundamental principle in the common law system.  In most torts casebooks in which Adams makes an appearance, rather than proving a certain point of law, it serves as a factually interesting, well written tool for a student new to the negligence standard to work through exactly what that standard means.
  In many of the casebooks currently in print, Adams is taught with U.S. v. Carroll Towing,
 the case in which the famed Learned Hand Formula for determining negligence was first clearly applied.
  Taught as an introduction to the Hand Formula and the economic analysis of negligence, the Adams opinion introduces the idea of balancing some degree of risk against the feasibility of available precautions.  As Justice Cardozo presents the case, even if not on its underlying facts, Adams represents a slight risk leading to a fluke injury that could only have been prevented by the undertaking of exorbitantly expensive precautions.  Presented as such, Adams v. Bullock provides something of an inroad to the more precise balancing test embodied in the Hand Formula and its progeny.  Reading Adams, a new student of torts can begin to understand that simply because a defendant’s actions caused the plaintiff’s injury and could have refrained from doing so, a finding of negligence does not necessarily follow.  From this point, it is then easier for such a student to conceptualize the point at which the failure to prevent the injury does present an unreasonable risk, a determination made scientific, at least in theory, by the Hand Formula.  

Adams v. Bullock is an important stepping stone in many torts casebooks in getting at the concept of an unreasonable risk, and what does and does not fall into that category.  Ironically, some of the very aspects of the written opinion that make it such a useful pedagogical tool are the very same aspects that are problematic based on the underlying record.  As it does in many situations, strong rhetoric in Adams v. Bullock comes at the cost of a certain degree of accuracy.  While the end result is a decision that is both helpful as an educational tool and is also an entertaining read, a further examination into the facts and circumstances surrounding this case is necessary to truly understand what happened, and to reinstate some of the ambiguity lost in the final published decision.  As such, this paper examines the facts, proceedings, and legal theories that underlie the New York high court’s determination in Adams.  With a deeper look into what went into crafting the Adams opinion, the reader will be better equipped to examine the case as more than just an interesting example, and obtain some insight into not only facts of the accident, but also the moment in tort law of which this case is an artifact.  
What Really Happened on the Bridge?
While the story of Adams v. Bullock is compelling as written in Justice Cardozo’s opinion, the actually circumstances of this case are even more interesting.  A closer examination is helpful in revealing not only what the facts actually were, but why the Court of Appeals approached this case the way they did, and the consequences of that decision. 
The Physical Layout of the Lion Street Culvert
In order to understand exactly what happened to Leo Adams, and the lawsuit that resulted from his accident, the somewhat confusing layout of the scene of the accident needs to be understood.
  No photographs of the accident site were included in the record on appeal, and the location of the accident is unsurprisingly no longer as it was in 1916.
  Without photographs of the scene, obtaining a sense of the facts requires some imaginative effort on the part of the reader.    

Imagine a set of railroad tracks, running east and west along at street level.  Three sets of tracks run along the ground, and at some point, the ground beneath the tracks subsides, making the surface upon which the tracks continue at street level become in effect a bridge over the gap created by the lowered ground.  Between the track farthest north and the edge of this ‘bridge,’ about twenty-six feet of open space covered with cinder blocks runs the length of the bridge.  At the edge of this open space, at the farthest end of the bridge from the train tracks, a footpath about two to three feet wide has been created by years of foot traffic along the bridge by which people get to the streets on either side of the depressed land over which the bridge crosses.  

Once you have a picture of the bridge in your mind, imagine two trolley car lines running underneath the railroad tracks. To carry those trolley tracks under the street-level right of way of the two railroads running on top of the bridge, a trolley company has constructed a concrete tunnel, called a culvert, that passes under the railroad tracks and out the other side of the bridge.  Two sets of two wires each run under the bridge and into the tunnel to power the trolley cars.   If you were to stand on the railroad bridge above and look down, you would see two sets of trolley tracks running into the tunnel below you, and two sets of power lines on each side running out from the bridge below your feet about three and one half feet straight below you.  These wires are hanging down from the underside of the bridge about sixteen inches, held on by iron holders attached to wooden planks.

As you stand on the bridge, looking down towards the ground on which the trolley lines run sixteen feet below you, a wide, low wall keeps you from falling over the edge.  At eighteen inches high and one foot wide, this wall, called a parapet, would keep you from accidentally stepping over the edge of the bridge, but would not provide much additional protection.  If you were so inclined, you most likely could climb atop the parapet.  If you did climb onto the parapet, sit down and dangle your feet over the edge, your feet would not touch the wires below.  Adding the low wall’s height to the distance from you to the wires, it would be about four and one half feet from your seat to the wire.  If you strained, and were tall enough, you could probably bring your toes within about one foot of the wires.  

As you are sitting on the edge of the low wall, if you were to look at the wires protruding from the underside of the bridge, you would notice that they do not run straight, at a ninety degree angle to the bridge, but rather come in at something of an angle, as the trolley tracks themselves are curving where they pass under the railroad tracks.  In order to keep the high voltage wires correctly spaced as the tracks curve, some of the boards to which the high voltage wires attach extend out from under the bridge, incidentally shielding the wires from your vision as they first clear the edge of the bridge.  As you look at the wires from above, sitting on the edge of the wall, the wire farthest to your right is covered by a protruding wooden board for the first eighteen inches.  The second wire is covered from the place where it clears the bridge and extending ten inches.  The third wire is covered by a plank for the first eight inches that it protrudes, and the fourth wire, farthest to the left, is not at all obscured by the board to which it is secured, protruding directly out from the side of the bridge.  The boards are not intended to protect users of the bridge from the high voltage wires, but their effect is to create some degree of cover for three of the four high voltage wires running under the bridge.  Because the trolley tracks begin to curve where the trolley lines come out from under the bridge, these boards must protrude from under the bridge to anchor the wires at the correct distance from each other.  They are precisely spaced so that the wires, forced to curve, do not cross each other.

Where the trolley tracks begin to descend from street level so that they can pass under the railroad tracks, the ground upon which those tracks lie is also recessed, allowing the trolley to get underneath the bridge, and creating the gap over which the bridge passes.  Essentially, at this point the trolley tracks sit at the base of a ravine.  One side of the ravine is on a steep enough incline to allow the local children to sled down it in the winter.  From the edge of the bridge, at the point where the ground begins to decline, it is easy to scramble down onto the incline, thereby reaching the side of the ravine, where industrial debris, including metal wires, has accumulated. If you continue down the incline, you can walk right up to the trolley tracks at the bottom of the ravine.

In Dunkirk, New York in 1916, this was the layout of the area where Leo Adams was hurt.  The three sets of railroad tracks running east and west were owned by the   New York, Chicago & St. Louis Railroad Company, also known as the “Nickel Plate” Railroad Company, and the Pennsylvania Railroad Company, or the “Penna.”  The trolley lines that ran below these tracks were operated by the Buffalo & Lake Erie Traction Company, who had the right to run their trolleys and wires where they did, but did not own the surrounding open ground or the bridge.  The bridge on which Leo was standing when he was injured was under the control of the Nickel Plate Railroad.  

Just Like any Other Point? The Use of the Footpath.
The intersection of the Penna and Nickel Plate railroads with the Traction Company’s trolley line was situated in a part of Dunkirk where much of the city’s industry was located.  Many of Dunkirk’s major employers were near the site of the accident, on both sides of the trolley tracks.  In order to pass from their homes to their jobs, which for many local residents were on opposite sides of the trolley line, workers had the choice to either cross over this bridge, making the total distance to the next major street about 690 feet, or walk more than one third of one mile around to the next pedestrian- accessible crossing.  Employees of Dunkirk Glass Company, United States Radiator Works, American Locomotive, and Empire Axle, among others, walked back and forth over this bridge every day to get to work.  While no one involved in the Adams trial stated exactly how heavily traveled this area was, witness testimony of neighbors estimated the number of pedestrians on the footpath to be at least one hundred people per day.  One neighbor testified to having seen people walking along the bridge or children playing upon it more often than not when looking out of his window.  
In addition to the working people using the bridge as a shortcut to and from work, a number of local children used the culvert and the surrounding areas to play.  Leo Adams’ house was just across from the trolley line, and one house to the north of the railroad tracks.  Only the Stroehlein house was closer to the railroad tracks.  Henry Stroehlein, who was about Leo’s age at the time of the accident, and his sister, would play with Leo and other children on the culvert.  Marcy Adams, Leo’s father, testified to having told Leo that he should not play on or around the railroad tracks, and told him that it was too dangerous.  Nonetheless, the local children played there quite frequently. 
A neighbor, Alice Goss, testified that the children would play marbles there, and would slide down the incline near the culvert in the winter.  Thomas Blaistoe, a neighbor of the Adams family, said that children were very often playing by the tracks, and characterized the open space between the edge of the bridge and the first train track as a “public playground” based on his observations of how frequently he saw the children there.
  Whether or not it was fair to characterize this overpass as a playground, it is clear from the record that the children played unimpeded on this particular bridge, that pedestrians used it frequently, and that this use had been quite longstanding by the time Leo Adams was injured.  All of the neighbors who testified at the trial court stated that the bridge had been used as a path and as a play area for as long as they had lived in the neighborhood, in some cases for more than ten years.  While no testimony was given to show that there were no other places along the Buffalo & Lake Erie Traction Company line used in a similar manner, the site of the accident in Dunkirk was unusual along the trolley line.  As the trolley lines normally ran over ground rather than below, and were powered by overhead lines, the unique placement of the power cables so near to a walkway and at a point where a substantial amount of public use occurred made this location, at least in hindsight, ripe for some sort of accident.
Leo Adams’ Electrocution: What was he doing?
On Friday April 21, 1916, the day of his accident, Leo Adams and some of the other local children were playing on the bridge over the Lion Street culvert. At the time, Leo was twelve years old and in the third grade at St. Mary’s School.  School was out for the day because it was Good Friday.  After lunch, Leo and his friends had gone out to play on the bridge.  The children who lived in Leo’s neighborhood, very close to the railroad and trolley lines, played out on the culvert most days after school, and on days like that one, when school was not in session.  Leo, his neighbors Henry Stroehlein and his sister (whose name is not mentioned at trial), Dennis and Jerry Driscoll, who were other boys from the neighborhood, and at least two other children, Polish boys whose name was thought to be Misma, were playing on the bridge that day.  Leo, Henry and Dennis were older children at the time.  Leo was twelve, and Henry and Dennis were both older than he.  The two unnamed ‘Misma’ children were younger than the other boys, although it is not clear from the record exactly how young they were.  
Prior to Leo’s accident, the younger children had found hay wires, which are relatively short metal wires used for baling hay, and were playing with them.  According to Dennis Driscoll, who testified at the trial, the younger children were using these hay wires to try to touch the trolley wire.  While they were swinging their wires, Leo was down on the side of the embankment where he himself found a larger piece of wire.  Leo’s wire was somewhere between six and eight feet long.  The testimony is somewhat conflicting as to what kind of wire it was.  Dennis Driscoll testified that it was a twisted wire, without a hook, of the type used on telephone lines.  Leo himself remembered the wire as a single piece of wire, about the thickness of his thumb, untwisted with a hook on one end.  Either way, all the witnesses agree that Leo had a hold of the wire and as he came back onto the bridge where the smaller children were playing was swinging about six feet of that wire around his head.  In his own testimony, Leo stated that he was not trying to hit the trolley lines with the wire he was swinging, but was simply swinging it around.  Both Dennis Driscoll and Henry Stroehlein also testified that, unlike the two younger children, Leo was not trying to make contact with the trolley line, but was walking on the bridge toward the place where the other boys were congregating, swinging his wire over his head.  Leo later said that he didn’t know why he was doing it, except that he began to swing the wire around as soon as he found it because, as he put it, “I was in the habit of swinging things like that.”
Leo walked back onto the bridge from the west, the side on which the closest of the trolley wires was the one that extended directly from underneath the bridge, without any wooden plank extending out from the edge of the bridge to shield it.  Had the wire with which Leo came into contact been covered, the accident would never have happened.  As Leo approached the point at which the wires came out from under the bridge, his piece of wire swung down to the side of the bridge and made contact with the high voltage wires beneath.  Leo did not remember anything that happened beyond that moment until he regained consciousness later that day.  
Dennis Driscoll reported at trial, “Just as soon as the other wire hit he fell down on the ground and laid there…. He tried to get up and couldn’t.”  Dennis tried to pull Leo back up onto his feet, but as soon as he touched Leo, he received a shock too and had to let go.  Leo was still holding onto the wire with one hand, and had fallen across it with his other hand as well as his hip and buttocks still making contact with the now-live wire.  After Dennis backed away, Henry Stroehlein, one of the older boys, grabbed Leo by the shoes and pulled him back and off of the wire.  Responding to the commotion, Anna Stroehlein, Henry’s mother, came out to see what had happened, and ran to the neighboring Adams’ house.  She said to Mabel Adams, Leo’s mother, “Mrs. Adams, come quick.  Leo is dead.”
As Leo’s mother came onto the scene of the accident and cried out, a crowd had begun to gather.  Thomas Blaistoe, a machinist who lived and worked in Dunkirk, heard the noise and came running out to see the source of the woman’s scream.  By the time Blaistoe arrived, Leo was free from the wire and was lying unconscious on the ground.  Blaistoe picked the unconscious boy up, later saying, “There was not much life in him when I picked him up.  … I picked him up and took him to the house and laid him down on the bed. … He was squirming around in my arms when I picked him up. He seemed to be in pain.”  
Leo’s Injuries and Recovery

Although not dead, Leo was badly burned as a result of the accident.  Both of his hands, his hip, his buttocks, and his side were burned to black.  Over the course of the following weeks, the flesh between Leo’s right thumb and index finger turned red and filled with puss, then sloughed off such that his mother, Mabel, could see the tendons in his hand.  The wounds on his hip and side similarly blackened and sloughed off the skin and tissue.  In the deeper burns on his side, the top half an inch of Leo’s flesh fell away.  The burns took more than six months to fully heal, and then left deep scars on both Leo’s hands and his torso.  The skin on his hands did not heal well, and he did not regain the full use of his hands, as the scars on his palms and fingers kept him from opening his hands fully. Even after the burns on his torso healed to scars, Leo continued to have pain in the deeper burns at least through the time of the court proceedings.  
In addition to the tissue damage caused by his electrocution, Leo Adams suffered from nervous system and spinal cord damage.  As a result of his exposure to such a jolt, Leo developed oversensitivity in his spinal cord.  This oversensitivity resulted in both physical and emotional symptoms.  Physically, Leo’s reflexes were exaggerated, causing increased reaction to stimuli.  Additionally, this overactive nervous system led to kidney and bowel dysfunction.  Although the Traction Company’s doctor did not find evidence of these symptoms in his examination, Leo’s treating physician noticed them throughout his treatment of Leo’s injuries.  

Leo was emotionally affected by his accident as well.  According to his parents, after the accident, Leo was a different person.  He had become nervous, and much more easily agitated.  Before the accident, Leo was a normal boy in terms of his temperament, but afterward would cry easily and was much more fearful, becoming upset at small provocation.  According to Marcy Adams, “He would fly all to pieces with every little thing.”  His parents reported that on more than one occasion, Leo slept strangely, and could not be awakened.  He missed the rest of the school year in 1916 as well.  
The Trial Court Case
The Pleadings and the Positions of the Parties

On November 22, 1916, the lawsuit on Leo Adam’s behalf was filed by the family’s attorney, Nelson J. Palmer, of Palmer & Rowe, naming Marcy Adams, Leo’s father as the plaintiff and Leo’s guardian ad litem.  The complaint alleges negligence on the part of the Traction Company in its construction and maintenance of the trolley line wires.  Specifically, the complaint began by setting out the longstanding use of the bridge passing over the Traction Company culvert as a pedestrian walkway and a customary play place of local children.  The complaint alleged that this use by the people of Dunkirk was well known to the defendant, or at least should have been known by it.  It stated that the Traction Company “negligently and carelessly maintained its trolley wires upon the said culvert in such a position that they were easily and readily reached, and the persons passing, standing, or playing upon the said culvert might readily or easily come into contact with the same.”  Adams additionally alleged that the Traction Company was negligent and careless in that it “permitted and allowed its trolley wires to remain unguarded in any manner upon and along the said culvert, although the said wires carried a high and dangerous charge of electricity, and were so located and placed that they were easily and readily reached by persons passing along or standing upon said culvert.”  Finally, the complaint alleged that it was through no fault of Leo’s own that the wire he was holding came into contact with the high voltage wires, but rather was the sole result of the previously alleged negligence.  The complaint went on detail Leo’s injury and damages, referring to him since the accident as “sick, sore, lame and disabled.”  

The plaintiff’s argument depended on three separate and necessary allegations.  First, that the wires presented a foreseeable danger; second, that harm they caused was easily preventable; and third, that Leo himself was not at all at fault.  In the era of contributory negligence, all three of these points would be critical to the ability of Leo’s claim to prevail.  Finally, the complaint asked for $50,000 in damages, plus costs.  

The defendant, George Bullock, was the named party in this case because of the fact that he had been appointed the receiver for the Buffalo & Lake Erie Traction Company, which was in receivership at the time.  The answer, which was fairly boilerplate in its language, amount to a denial of any negligence on the part of the Traction Company, and stated that any injury to Leo Adams was caused by his own negligence or that of some unspecified third party for whom the Traction Company is not liable.


One of the most interesting features of the pleadings, and indeed of the entire trial and appeal process, is that the plaintiff did not make any argument specifying what exactly Leo believed the Traction Company should have done.  From his contention that the Traction Company should not have maintained high voltage wires in an accessible manner, it is clear that the plaintiff believed such a choice was careless.  Adams did not suggest any specific protection or alternate design that might have avoided the danger to which Leo was exposed.  In the most general sense, the plaintiff’s argument could be construed to mean that, since he believed that leaving the wires “unguarded in any manner” was inappropriate, any form of protection at all would have been non-negligent.  It is a possible implication from the negligence actually alleged that at the very least, some active attempt to protect passers-by would have made the defendant’s conduct less blameworthy.  But even this most basic assertion that the plaintiff believed something, rather than nothing, should have been done to protect Leo is based only on implication.  At no point in the proceeding that was memorialized in the record did the plaintiff make any suggestion as to what exactly the defendant should have done differently.
  
The Trial

The trial itself began on November 6, 1918, almost two full years from the date that Adams initially filed his complaint.  Leo Adams was now fourteen and was living in East Sheridan, having moved out of the city into a quieter, rural area.  The case was presided over by New York native Judge George W. Cole, and was heard in the Village of Mayville, the seat of Chautaqua County, 28 miles from where the accident occurred in Dunkirk.  The jury consisted of twelve Chautaqua County men.  
Although the trial was nearly two years in the making, it was fairly short.  The plaintiff called two expert witnesses, Albert Walter, a civil engineer, to testify about the setup of the culvert and surrounding areas, and Dr. William J. Sullivan, Leo’s treating physician, to testify about Leo’s condition and prospects for improvement.  Also testifying were two of the boys who witnessed the accident, Dennis Driscoll and Henry Stroehlein, the neighbor who carried Leo home, Thomas Blaistoe, and a local young woman who had knowledge of the bridge usage.  Finally, Leo, his mother Mabel, and his father Marcy testified about the events of that day and the aftermath.  The defense only called one witness, Dr. Melville Coxe, who did most of the Traction Company’s work as a physician expert in defense of person injury cases like this one.
Much of the substance of the witness testimony is summarized above, but a number of interesting trends emerge from the witness testimony and the questions there were asked of them.

Throughout their questioning, the quality of parenting exhibited by Mr. and Mrs. Adams was implicitly questioned.  Though Leo’s father was the named plaintiff, he was suing as a guardian ad litem, not on his own behalf.  As such, any failure on the part of Leo’s parents to supervise him adequately should not have been at issue.  Rather, only Leo’s actions should have been considered in determining whether there had been any contributory negligence   The question in the jury’s minds should have been, in theory, whether Leo was behaving in a way a child of his age ought to have in order to protect his own safety, and if not, did that contribute to the accident.  Rather, because of the introduction of the question of what the parents were doing, the issue in the jury’s minds might have become, at least to some extent, what was Leo doing when he got hurt, and why did his parents not protect him from such harm.
This implication is born out by the questioning of Marcy Adams, Leo’s father.  When Marcy testified about the day of the accident, Thomas Wheeler, the Traction Company’ attorney, asked him whether he knew that Leo played on the bridge.  Marcy testified that he did know that the boys played out there, but that he had forbidden Leo to do so himself, an admonition that had gone repeatedly unheeded.  The issue of whether his parents knew what Leo was doing seemed to be a point of tension for both the attorney and for Mr. Adams himself.  Mr. Adams testified initially that on the day of the accident, Leo went out to play at lunchtime and that Marcy had not seen Leo since that time.  On cross examination however, Marcy admitted to defense counsel that he had in fact seen Leo playing on the bridge shortly before the accident.  Mr. Wheeler then asked if Mr. Adams had attempted to bring his son in and get him off the bridge, to which Mr. Adams did not have a clear answer.  While he stated that he and his wife did try to get Leo to come in, he could not remember exactly whether he or his wife tried to call the boy in, nor was he entirely certain that either one of them had.  While it is not easily determinable from the written record without actually hearing the questioning, this less than clear answer to what Mr. and Mrs. Adams did about the fact that their son played by high voltage wires, and the fact that they knew he was out there the day of the accident, seem to be a point the defense was eager to take up.   

To be sure, this testimony could serve the legitimate function of helping to establish what dangers Leo was aware of at the time he hurt himself.  In looking at what Leo’s parents had told him about this location, the jury might better understand whether Leo himself was acting with reasonable care towards his own safety.  Perhaps the Traction Company’s attorney was establishing the fact that Leo had been warned of the danger inherent in playing near high voltage wires in order to argue that he was not protecting his own safety and was therefore contributorily negligent.  This argument, however, would be best supported by the testimony of Leo himself that he knew high voltage wires were dangerous. Additionally, while parental warnings not to play in a dangerous area would support the argument that a child should have known better, the issue of whether Mr. or Mrs. Adams tried to call Leo back in that day would not.  If the issue were warning, this particular day would have created no additional hazard than any other day on which Leo played near the wires. 

It is also unclear from the record exactly what danger Mr. and Mrs. Adams believed this play area presented to their son.  While they likely knew that the high voltage wires were dangerous, the proximity of the train tracks, the sixteen foot drop from the edge of the bridge, and the incline of the ground leading right to the trolley tracks were even more obvious dangers.  Any one of these hazards could have caused serious harm to a child playing nearby, and there is no reason to believe that Leo’s parents were concerned only, or even primarily, about the high voltage lines.  As such, the inference that Leo knew the wires’ danger is harder to draw from the evidence presented.  Because the theory that Leo’s parent’s warning should have made him aware of the specific danger from the wires is so weak, the nature of the warning given, like the question of whether a warning was issued on this date, seems to go to the issue of Leo’s parents’ negligence, not his own.  
Despite the fact that Leo’s parents’ negligence was not officially at issue in Adams, this case did present a nice opportunity for such an argument to be made unofficially.  It is worth noting again that the Adams home was directly across from the trolley line, and the second nearest house to the Nickel Plate and Penna tracks.  Leo Adams and his family lived in an industrial area of a town whose major employers were industrial plants.  At the time of the accident, Marcy Adams was out of work, staying home while incapacitated from an injury.  Mabel Adams also did not work.  The wire Leo found was along a ditch leading down into the culvert where the trolley ran.  This area, not under the control of the Traction Company, had enough industrial debris in it for at least three children to find large metal wires on the ground to swing around while playing on the railroad right of way.  Taken as a whole, the picture of the way in which the Adams family lived: right on top of the railroad tracks, father out of work, in an industrial area with at least some industrial debris lying around, is not the ideal situation in the minds of many at the time in which to raise children.  Adding to that the fact that both of Leo’s parents were home all day on the day Leo was electrocuted within view of his own house, it is not unsurprising that the defense would want the qualities of the parents, not just Leo’s actions, to influence the jury.  At the very least, painting an unfavorable picture of the Adams Family might have helped in limiting the amount of sympathy, and thus the amount of the award, offered to the family.  On the other hand, a family undergoing the burdens of dealing with an injured son in hard times might sway the jury towards an award for compensation it might not otherwise find.  
Interesting for their absence from the trial record are three major factual concerns not addressed in witness testimony.  On the question of damages, the plaintiff offered no testimony or written evidence to establish the actual financial injuries caused by Leo’s accident.  Though the doctor testified to frequent visits for treatment in the first year after Leo was burned, no quantification of the costs incurred for these visits was submitted to the jury.  This lack of evidence is important as well as surprising because of the high degree of uncertainty about even the most easily quantifiable damages it leaves to the jury.  While Mr. Palmer, the Adams’ attorney, might have told the jury in opening or closing what the doctor visits should have been worth, there is no formal evidence to support any such contention. 
Secondly, no evidence explaining alternative methods of powering the trolley cars or of ways to make the existing high voltage lines safer was introduced at trial.  This elision makes it very difficult, at least for the modern reader, to understand what exactly the plaintiff thought the defendant should have done, as explained above.  It is possible that the plaintiff was arguing essentially that the very act of having unsafe wires was a negligent choice, whether or not there was any other alternative.  Because this case was argued in the years before the modern standard of negligence had been fully fleshed out,
 it might be that the plaintiff and his lawyer believed that simply demonstrating the foreseeable and actual harm was enough, whether or not that harm could easily have been prevented.  Whether this lack of testimony as to alternatives was the result of plaintiff’s counsel not believing such was necessary or was the result of sloppy lawyering is unclear.  Perhaps plaintiff’s counsel believed that after showing foreseeability, it was as a matter of course true that the defendant could have done something to protect against the danger.
  It is also possible that Mr. Palmer simply could not conceptualize a possible solution to the danger presented by the wires.  

Finally, despite the implications in the majority opinion of the Court of Appeals, no testimony was heard as to how unusual the Traction Company’s underpass arrangement was in the industry.  No evidence was introduced either to show that the underpass design was either unique or standard practice.  No testimony explained what the custom for safety measures was among trolley companies in stringing high voltage lines in this manner. Such testimony by witnesses for either party could have done much to clarify the issue of exactly what the Traction Company did wrong, or conversely, was justified in doing.  Looking at the case anew, such information would have been helpful and its absence could complicate the jury’s task.  Looking at the trial record with reference to how the case was construed by Justice Cardozo, the lack of testimony to both the uniqueness and the custom is more surprising.  As discussed below, Cardozo’s explanation of the court’s holding of no negligence is written to sound as though both of these points had been proven in favor of the defendant on the facts, rather than being completely left out of the trial altogether. 
Jury Instruction and Deliberation

Both the jury instruction given by Judge Cole and the questions thereabout posed by the jury are worth examining.  Although the defense objected to this characterization, the judge believed that, given the testimony of the witnesses to the longstanding and unobstructed use of the bridge, and the fact that the bridge where the children were playing was on the right of way of the Nickel Plate and Penna Railroads and not that of the defendant, that Leo Adams had to be treated as a licensee for the purpose of setting the duty of care.  In so holding, the judge stated:
It must be assumed that the boy was rightfully there upon the lands of the railway companies, and it must also be assumed that the defendant was rightfully there with its wires, and that upon the assumption the defendant owed a duty of exercising a reasonable degree of care against any menace to those who were rightfully upon the property where this injury occurred.  That is, they owned the duty of exercising reasonable care against producing injury to anyone who was rightfully there, and leave it for the jury to say whether or not under all of the circumstances here, the defendant was negligent in not guarding or protecting these wires in view of the position which they occupied to the top of the culvert where the boys were accustomed to play, and then also the question of contributory negligence, I will submit to the jury.


Because Judge Cole had already decided that Leo was not a trespasser at the time of the accident, no issue of what duty of care the Traction Company owed existed.  Given that no more variables existed that would modify the Traction Company’s duty of care toward Leo, Judge Cole instructed the jury:
[Defendants have the duty] of not menacing the safety of people who were there with the consent of the railroad companies, upon whose right of way this accident occurred.  The court will say to you, that that is the duty that the defendant owed in this case.  It could not set up some device there, or create a situation there which would be likely or reasonably likely to produce danger, or to interfere with, or menace the safety of people who were traveling upon this right of way. …The defendant was not required absolutely to guarantee, by any means, the safety of everybody who traveled over this culvert, or of the children who played there.  Not by any means.  That was not its duty, but it was its duty to guard against those things which are reasonably likely to occur. …Your inquiry must be; should the defendant in the exercise of that degree of care, which ordinary careful and prudent men use, reasonably have anticipated that an accident was likely to have occurred, either to the boys playing there, or to people traveling over there as travel[]ers. If so, then you would have a right to say that they were negligent.

After addressing the issue of what exactly would constitute negligence on the part of the defendant, Judge Cole went on to explain the concept of contributory negligence as it was applied in New York courts at the time.  He instructed the jury that Leo “must exercise reasonable care under the circumstances for his own protection.  In this connection, I say to you that the degree of care required of a child, is not the same degree of care that is required of a man of more mature years, and more mature intelligence and judgment.”  Judge Cole went on to explain that Leo “was required while playing out there to exercise for his own protection such care for his own safety and protection as boys of that age, intelligence and judgment ordinarily exercise for their own protection.”


Although somewhat wordy, Judge Cole’s jury instruction was fairly straightforward in its attempt to explain the responsibilities of both plaintiff and defendant, and how they should affect the liability, or lack thereof, of the defendant.


After retiring to the jury room to deliberate, the jury, through a representative, returned to the courtroom to ask the judge to clarify the consequence of a finding of contributory negligence.  Addressing its question to the court, the jury spokesman said, “What we wish to know is this. If we find that the defendant was negligent, but that the plaintiff was also negligent, then what will be our verdict?”  The court responded with, “In that event your verdict will be no cause of action.  If you find that the defendant was negligent, and that the plaintiff was also negligent in a way which contributed to the accident, your verdict will then be, No cause of action.”


After completing its deliberations, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff in the amount of $1150.00, plus $159.08 in costs and disbursements to the plaintiff.   

The Meaning of the Jury’s Verdict

In its initial pleadings, the plaintiff asked the jury to award $50,000.00 in damages for the injuries to Leo Adams.  The jury, though finding in his favor, believed that Leo was entitled to $1150.00.  As with all jury determinations, which are the result of deliberations that do not become public, the jury’s final determination could be the result of a number of causes.


Of course, it could be the case that the jury believed that $1150.00 represented the fair actual value of the harm Leo Adams suffered as the result of negligence by the defendant.  Given that much of the injury to which the plaintiff’s physician was able to testify was already healed, and that the defendant’s physician testified to finding no current evidence of any nerve damage or other long-term effects beyond Leo’s inability to fully open his hand, it is definitely possible that this number represents what the jury believed was the actual value of Leo’s injuries.  No evidence of the actual cost of treatment for Leo’s injuries was presented at the trial.  The plaintiff’s doctor made no reference to Leo’s bills at the trial, and the plaintiff did not, at least in any way that survived to the record on appeal, provide an exact dollar amount for the treatment of Leo’s injuries.  Because opening and closing statements are not included in the record on appeal, it is unknown how the Adams’ attorney wanted the jury to calculate damages.  $1150.00 might have been the amount by which the jury believed Leo Adams was injured, though where they would have gotten this number is unclear.

It is also possible that the jury did not in fact believe that the Buffalo & Lake Erie Traction Company really was negligent, but felt that the company was in a better position to pay for the damage than was the Adams family, and used the Traction Company as essentially an insurer for damage caused by their operations.  Finally, and to this author most likely, this verdict might have been the result of the jury finding negligence on both the part of the plaintiff and defendant, but essentially disregarding the doctrine of contributory negligence to reach what they might have thought was a fairer result.  

While it is often the case that juries come back with awards much different than the plaintiff initially requested, in the case of Adams v. Bullock, the fact that the jury specifically asked the judge about the effects of a finding of contributory negligence provides at least some evidence as to why this happened. Perhaps they did not believe Leo’s testimony that he was not really intending to make contact with the wire, or that someone other than the Traction Company was primarily responsible for keeping Leo Adams out of trouble.  At the time Adams was decided, contributory negligence served as a bar to recovery in almost all jurisdictions in the U.S.  While this rule eventually shifted towards a regime of comparative negligence in New York and elsewhere, prior to that official shift in approach, it is not difficult to imagine a jury disregarding the formal rule of contributory negligence, and awarding plaintiffs part of what they might otherwise be entitled to had they not contributed to their own injury.  No evidence in the record specifically states that any sort of jury nullification was occurring, but given the very specific question of the jury about the effects of contributory negligence, and the substantially reduced judgment from that requested by the plaintiff, it is at least a plausible explanation for this outcome.
The Appeal
After the trial court judge denied the defense’s motion for a new trial, the Buffalo & Lake Erie Traction Company appealed to the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court.  New York’s intermediate appellate court upheld the jury’s determination without authoring an in-depth opinion by a 2-1 decision.
  The defense appealed once again, this time to the New York Court of Appeals.  As any veteran of first year torts might remember, that appeal resulted in the now-famous decision of the Court of Appeals, wherein Justice Cardozo writes the opinion of the court, reversing the lower court decisions and holding that no negligence should have been found on these facts.  
The Briefs


In its brief to the court, the Traction Company argued that the lower courts’ determinations were in error.  The Traction Company’s contentions went to all three of the core issues of liability addressed in the lower court: whether Leo Adams was rightfully on the bridge, whether the Traction Company was negligent in its particular method of powering its trolleys, and whether Leo was contributorily negligent.  The brief focused on the second and third issues.

In refuting the claim that the Traction Company was negligent for its method of maintaining its trolley wires, the brief pointed to a number of cases wherein both railroad companies and others employing high voltage wires were not found liable for injury to one who came into contact with either high voltage or a train car.  A number of the cases on which appellant’s brief relied seem comparable to the situation in Adams.  In Freeman v. Brooklyn Heights Railroad Co.
 and Sheffield Co. v. Morton,
 for example, no liability was found where the children in question did something unusual in order to come into contact with the live wire.  In Sheffield, the injured child used a long metal pole to reach up and touch an electrified wire that was otherwise inaccessible.  In Freeman, the plaintiff climbed to an difficult to reach place in a girder and grabbed hold of a wire not accessible from the ground, and that was not intended to be electrified.  In Kempf v. Spokane,
 a Washington State case where a child who was injured by tying a wire to a stone and tossing it onto the high voltage line, the injury was held to be unforeseeable and thus the defendant was not negligent.  The defendant’s argument was essentially that as a matter of law, accidents of this type had been deemed unforeseeable, and should be similarly treated in this case.  
As to the question of contributory negligence on the part of Leo Adams, the defense cited a long list of cases wherein children who failed to take care for their own safety were found to be contributorily negligent, thus barring recovery.  Given the fact that the child was treated as a separate legal actor whose own actions should be judged in relation to his age and intelligence, the defense offered a number of cases in which the foolish conduct of other such children created a bar to their recovery.  Most notably, some of the cases cited referred to the failures of children as young as three years old to take care for their own safety, when doing such things as running out in front of a train.  Given the age and intelligence of the boy, coupled with the fact that he admitted that he knew that high voltage wires were dangerous, the defendant-appellant argued that even if the Traction Company was negligent, Leo clearly exposed himself to the harm he suffered.  
In opposition, the plaintiff argued that, as a general matter, and in cases of similar circumstances, it has traditionally been a question for the jury whether the defendant was negligent and if so, whether the plaintiff was contributorily negligent.  The respondent’s brief in turn detailed cases wherein injuries similar in circumstances to the type suffered by Leo Adams were given to the jury, and where that jury’s determination was honored.  Essentially, the plaintiff argued that while it is true that in some previous cases defendants have won on similar cases, they did so on the facts and not as a matter of law.  Additionally, the respondent pointed to the fact that no evidence presented at trial suggested anything other than that Leo had not intended to touch the wire.  As an accident, not an intentional act, Leo was acting as a reasonable child when he swung his wire into the high voltage lines, and was not, as the defendant argues, being particularly careless.
One interesting aspect of the Traction Company’s brief is its treatment of Leo and his responsibility to take care for his own safety.  The approach taken by the defendant in attempting to show that plaintiff was acting unreasonably seems very closely tied to the era in which the accident took place.  To say that a twelve year old boy who knew that high voltage wires were dangerous should have known better than to swing another wire around him so close to high voltage lines is at the very least an understandable position.  To extrapolate from situations wherein two and three year olds who were struck and killed by trains were said not to have been free of contributory negligence to the Adams case, however, is less understandable.  The existence of cases wherein a court, if not the jury, found a toddler contributorily negligent because, as the brief puts it, “even a two or three year old cannot be the instrument of his own injury” with impunity, is particularly foreign to reader grounded in a more modern understanding of what magnitude of thoughtless conduct on the part of the victim must have been displayed in order to completely exonerate the also-negligent defendant.  The doctrine of contributory negligence itself, especially in its application to situations such as those relied upon by the appellant, reflects a certain understanding of individual responsibility, as well as the responsibilities of industry generally, that is not as dominant today.  Both the briefs of the parties and the final decision of the Court of Appeals in Adams, discussed below, reflect a very different moment both in American tort law and in American history.
What Ends up in the Casebooks: Cardozo’s Opinion

Finally, three and one half years after Leo’s unfortunate accident, Adams v. Bullock concluded with the Court of Appeals of New York decision.  In a very brief opinion, Justice Cardozo, writing for a unanimous court, reversed the decisions of both lower courts holding that as a matter of law, no negligence should have been found. 

The opinion itself starts with a recitation of the facts as Justice Cardozo understood them.  It then goes on to say that the Traction Company was lawfully exercising its rights in running the overhead lines instead of any other, possibly less dangerous, option.  Cardozo states that while they did have a duty to use a “high degree of vigilance” with such a dangerous instrumentality, the harm to Leo Adams, which could have happened anywhere along the track, was of the type that no vigilance could have guarded against “unless fortified by the gift of prophecy.”  Because the Court believed that no special danger was presented at this location, no similar accident had occurred at this location, and no custom had been disregarded, the Traction Company had acted properly.  That the trolley lines could not be insulated and still be effectual kept the court from imposing a higher duty to guard against harm that might otherwise be required, as in their view, the only way to have guarded against this accident would have been to run the wires for the entire line beneath ground.  Finding such a determination to be tantamount to making the Traction Company an insurer, the Court instead reversed and found no negligence.  Like the parties’ briefs to the court, the Court of Appeals’ decision is interesting both for what it does, and for the context in which it was made.

Questions of Law and Fact in the Court of Appeals’ Decision

In reversing the intermediate court’s decision to uphold the jury verdict in Adams v. Bullock, the approach taken by the Court of Appeals provides an interesting view of the ways in which a judge, though his particular telling of the facts and use of language, can make any determination appear the only logical one, and gloss over any ambiguity.  While it is certainly not the case that the jury verdict should surely have been upheld, the manner in which the decision is worded, both as to the law and the facts on point, creates more of a sense of the inevitability of the outcome than is justified on the facts.  Certainly, a reasonable jury on these facts could have denied Leo any recovery, and perhaps it should have. Nonetheless, going from that statement to the determination that the decision was so clearly unjustified as to require the state’s highest court to reverse that decision is a substantial move, and one that the appellate court makes appear stronger by a particular reading of the facts that is not clearly supported by the underlying record.


In the very first paragraph of his opinion, Justice Cardozo lays out the scene of the accident as he understands it, setting up his belief that the accident was unforeseeable.  In describing the intersection of the wires and the bridge, Cardozo states that the trolley wire “ran beneath” the bridge, and the side of the bridge “was protected by a parapet eighteen inches wide.”  While it is true that at some point the high voltage wires did ‘run’ underneath the bridge, this choice of words creates a misleading picture of the point at which Leo Adams was injured.  A more precise description of the wires would have been that they passed underneath the bridge, not ran there, as the impression one gets from Cardozo’s telling is that the wires were covered by the bridge.  This reading of the facts is bolstered by Cardozo’s decision to follow his characterization of the wires as running under the bridge with the statement that the side of the bridge was protected by the parapet.  While it is true that the side of the bridge is protected by the parapet, the wires are in no way made inaccessible by the existence of the parapet.  Its existence does make the passerby walk farther away from the wires themselves, by a width of eighteen inches, and increase the distance between the nearest place a person might stand and the wires below.  Nonetheless, the existence of the parapet does not create any sort of protective layer of concrete between the child playing on the bridge and the high voltage wires below.  This accessibility of the wires is underscored by the fact that the parapet was low and wide enough for the children to sit, walk, or play on.  Clearly, the parapet provided protection to a pedestrian from falling onto or reaching down to the wires below, but it did not present any physical barrier between the place where the children played and those wires.  


This distinction, though fine, is important for two reasons.  First, an initial reading of the facts as presented, which suggest that the wire was not visible to the children, nor accessible without reaching under the bridge, make less obvious the possibility that a person will be able to come into contact with them.  As the plaintiff’s brief to the Court of Appeals stated, a person sitting on the edge of the bridge with a parasol or other conductive implement, could accidentally come into contact with the wires
.  While it still may be argued that such a form of contact is unlikely, the fact that one of the many users of the bridge who didn’t have a wire like Leo’s could have hurt themselves here is lost in Cardozo’s explanation.  That this possible confusion was in fact created by Cardozo’s statement of the facts is evident from the ways in which current and former students of torts describe this case.  Throughout the process of writing this paper, when this author spoke with other law students and lawyers about Adams v. Bullock, many recalled it as the case in which the boy wrapped a wire underneath a bridge and hurt himself.  One such attorney used the phrased ‘snaked under a bridge” to describe how he understood the contact between the two wires to have happened.  This factual misconception is so important because it goes to the core of the Cardozo opinion, that the injury was unforeseeable without the gift of prophecy.  The facts as many believe them to be based on this opinion would likely support such a conclusion.  The facts as they actually existed however, do not so clearly lead to such a conclusion.

The second way in which this reading of the facts distorts the reader’s analysis of the situation is that in passing over the fact that the wires were in the open and visible, although just beyond the children’s reach, Cardozo’s statement of the facts completely glosses over the possibility that children might very well try in some way to come into contact with the wires, either by swinging haywires at them, as the younger children were doing the day Leo was hurt, or by some other means, perhaps a stick or an umbrella.  By eliminating this fact, the Court of Appeals’ decision makes the inquiry into contributory negligence impossible, and muddles the issue of foreseeability.  Though it is uncertain in what way this elision affected the outcome, if at all, it certainly makes a full understanding of the case more difficult.  While there is no reason that a court would have to decide the issue of contributory negligence if it had determined that no negligence could be found in the first instance, the fact that this issue could exist at all on these facts is lost by this particular telling of the facts.  While a finding of contributory negligence would of course be helpful to the defendant in this case were it to come to that point, the very same facts that go to contributory negligence also go to the foreseeability of the harm, and would therefore have been at the very least analytically useful to the reader.  It would be overly idealistic to hope that every written opinion would include all the relevant facts to allow the student of torts to better analyze that decision, but in this case, that interest would be served merely by a more precise statement of the facts the court has already endeavored to set out.

It is worth noting that, while it is possible that these mischaracterizations were made in order to facilitate in justifying the court’s conclusion, it is also possible that they are the result of a misinterpretation of the facts themselves, or simple lack of precision with respect to language.  In looking at the record on appeal to which the Court of Appeals had access, determining the exact layout of the scene of the accident is not an easy task, and required, at least for this author, several attempts to diagram the accident site by reference to the testimony of the civil engineer who explained it.  As a judge in the highest court in New York, it is likely that someone in the position of Justice Cardozo would have less luxury to engage in close factual analysis than a researcher focused solely on the facts of this case.  Whether the particular explanation of the facts set out by Justice Cardozo was inadvertent or by design, his word choice does have an impact on the way in which the reader interprets the accident, and by extension the court’s decision.


  The crux of the Court of Appeals opinion is that, on the facts as the court understood them, no negligence could reasonably have been found.  The court acknowledges that in dealing with something as dangerous as exposed electrified wires the Traction Company had a heightened duty to be vigilant.  However, even given this heightened duty of care, the court found that there was no way to tell that the particular location of the accident was especially hazardous.  In finding that no particular risk was apparent at this location, the court does not engage in any careful analysis of the situation, and glosses over what is apparent both from the facts of the case and from the appellant’s brief as well.

Particularly, the court notes that the site of the accident was a high traffic area.  In spite of this fact, it goes on to say that this point along the line was no more of a danger than any other place.  This conclusion seems counter-intuitive; if only one place upon a high voltage line was frequented by both children playing and pedestrians passing by, would that not inherently create a greater risk for injury?  Perhaps by this statement the court meant that no physical aspect of this crossing itself was more dangerous than any other place, irrespective of how the number of people exposed to it would multiply any inherent risk.  As a general matter, that would be a reasonable position; that just because many people enter a particular area, if that area does not present any extraordinary threat, the high-traffic nature of that place is not enough to make it a hazard.  Nonetheless, as described above, the specific facts of how this crossing was actually constructed, with wires running beneath but also out of the side of the bridge, indicates that this place was in fact not simply just as dangerous as every other point on the line, but presented a special hazard related to its construction irrespective of the high traffic nature of that crossing.  

In general, the Buffalo & Lake Erie Traction Company trolley line ran above ground.  Only because its route crossed that of another train that had the over-ground right of way did the trolley cars need to run below street level, and because of this special circumstance, the power lines needed also to run below the street level.  It could well be the case, even without the extra foot traffic in the location of the accident, that it is easier to inadvertently come into contact with exposed wires four and a half feet blow you than thirteen or more feet above you.  A jury certainly could have decided that the lower-running wires were not any more dangerous than the overhead kind.  The jury however, did not make such a finding, given the fact that they did find negligence on the part of the defendant.  It is difficult then to say that the appeals court was correct in finding that, as a matter of law, it could only be the case on these facts that the low-slung wires were not more dangerous than overhead wires.  Such a finding by the trial court could have been not only reasonable but maybe even the correct outcome in this case, but given that the standard of review on appeal affords deference to the fact finding of the jury, the decision of the state’s highest court to make this determination itself is harder to understand.


Another somewhat perplexing facet of the court’s determination that the accident was unforeseeable, is the role of the appellant’s brief to the court in this analysis.  In its brief to the court, the Traction Company argued, among other things, that the accident was unforeseeable.  In support of this position, the appellant laid out a substantial list of comparable accidents, many involving children and electrified wires, wherein the accident was found not to be the responsibility of the defendant whose wires were involved.  While none of the accidents involved were entirely comparable to the accident at issue in Adams v. Bullock, a substantial number of cases revolved around questions of the foreseeability of harm to children who touched the wires.  In Kempf v. Spokane, for example, a group of boys threw a long wire over a gap wherein a trolley line’s wires ran, and made contact with the trolley wires, injuring the boy holding the wire.  In Mayfield Water & Light Co. v. Webb,
 a child climbed a support cable, and hit his head on an exposed electrical wire, killing him instantly.  In Wittleder v. Citizen’s Electrical Illuminating Co.,
 a child grasped an electrical wire that was within his reach and was electrocuted.  In all of these cases, the court examined the foreseeability of harm caused to the victim.  While none of these accidents conclusively show that the premises involved in Adams should have been known to be dangerous, the rather lengthy list of cases wherein children playing with wires or trying to touch electrified wires that had already been heard when Adams was decided indicates that there is at least some degree of foreseeability with respect to accidents involving uninsulated high voltage power lines in locations heavily frequented by children.
Even if Leo did touch the wires on purpose, which was suggested by the defendant’s brief on appeal as well as at trial, the accident was even still foreseeable.  Not only were there enough similar accidents to Leo’s version of events to warrant a finding of foreseeability, but enough cases demonstrating intentional contact with high voltage wires had already been seen to put the Traction Company on notice of this type of behavior by children.  While, from the perspective of the ordinary person, or even an ordinary judge, it would seem at least somewhat unusual for a child to attempt to crawl through the metal bars of a girder to reach a charged wire or to use a metal bar to touch a high voltage wire, it is hard to believe that these actions would be a surprise to a trolley company.  While it was perhaps a surprise to such a company the first time a child tied a rock to a wire and tried to toss that wire onto a high voltage line, would not the industry at some point come to expect that children will try to touch such wires, even if it is unsafe?  In New York in the last available census prior to the accident at issue in Adams, there were one hundred and one trolley companies operating in the state of New York.  Although this is a substantial number of companies involved in providing trolley service, it appears, at least in retrospect, that the industry was small enough to make it likely that members of this industry would have eventually become aware of the fact that children are fascinated by high voltage wires.
  While this observation might not get at the issue of whether it is the trolley company’s responsibility to correct for this tendency, or that of the children and their guardians, the argument that the trolley company couldn’t have imagined any such conduct is one which might not be taken as seriously if made today.  


This general notion of foreseeability of such injuries does not necessarily mean that this particular accident was highly foreseeable.  After all, if one generalizes across circumstances to create evidence of foreseeability, taken to an extreme one could say that electricity is dangerous, and it is foreseeable that where there is electricity, accidents should be anticipated.  Nonetheless, the rather frequent nature of accidents involving electrocutions of children who play near exposed wires might have given the court reason to deal more precisely with the issue of foreseeability, rather than simply stating that it would require the gift of prophecy to do have foreseen the accident here.


One possible explanation for the somewhat dismissive response of the court to the idea that Leo Adam’s accident was foreseeable is that it obviates the need for discussion of both the finer question of whether, given the foreseeablity of the accident, the Traction Company took steps commensurate with its heightened duty to be vigilant.  Assuming that the court generally accepted the notion that an accident such as Leo’s could conceivably have been foreseeable, it would then have to ask whether reasonable precautions were taken to minimize this risk.  In a world of electric trolleys that can only run on exposed wires, this question would require a fairly delicate balancing of what could be done to protect the children, and what was an acceptable level of risk for the Traction Company to take.  If this step was to be taken, then two perhaps undesirable results would follow. First, the question the appellate court would then have been answering would seem to be a much more complicated one factually.  Were that the case, it would be even more difficult to say that it was the domain of the appellate courts to answer this question.  As the issue becomes more complex and less a matter of a bright line assessment that no reasonable jury could even have engaged in this balancing, the more out of line with the ordinary scope of appellate review this decision becomes.  As such, by having made a much more simplified determination, the court also made a cleaner determination; one that seems on the face of it logical enough to support the perspective that this accident really could not as a matter of law been considered the result of the defendant’s negligence.  

Secondly, such a determination would have created additional uncertainty for the purveyors of inter-city mass transit by asking them to look at every highly traveled crossing for possibly less than obvious dangers.  In this case, it seems highly possible that the jury’s determination could have been reversed on the grounds that no reasonable jury could have failed to find contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff.  Such a finding however, would still leave the railroad and trolley companies with the possibility of liability in other situations where the evidence of a plaintiff’s own foolish conduct were not so strong.  Even if a more complex analysis of the negligence of the parties in this decision would not have changed the outcome in this case, it might have had unwanted consequences for future defendants.  
In looking at the standards of foreseeability applied to trolley, railroad, and electric companies at the time, a very different picture of the responsibility of industry for its dangers emerges than would be seen today.  The standards for what constituted an attractive nuisance were quite high at the time, according to the case law.  In Webb, for example, the court states that attractive nuisance applied only in cases where the threat was within reach of the child injured.  As an extreme example, should a furry, animated, and dangerously electrified teddy bear be hovering just above a child’s reach such that he needed a stick to touch it and electrocute himself, this would not be an attractive nuisance.  Even though the wires at issue in Adams were just out of the reach of the children, visible from their customary play place, and the very day of Leo’s accident some children were actually trying to touch the wires, no responsibility was placed upon the Traction Company.  It seems hard to imagine that any similar situation would be permitted today.  In the era of Adams v. Bullock, street and electric railways were everywhere.  According to a special report of the Bureau of the Census compiled in 1910, in 1907 there were almost four thousand miles of trolley track in the state of New York alone, more than three thousand of which were powered by overhead cable systems.
 One hundred and one different street car and traction companies operated out of New York in that year.
  With such a greater reliance on the electric railroads than the U.S. has today, and a much more permissive attitude within the courts generally towards what risks industry should be allowed to take with the lives of others, it is not as surprising that a case like Adams would receive the kind of treatment it did in that era.  
Despite the climate of the times that created Adams, there is still some irony in Cardozo’s opinion in the context of the rest of his tenure on the bench.  In Adams, Cardozo essentially places the burden of avoiding dangerous trolley wires on the shoulders of the victim, by saying that the defendant is not at fault in having these wires exposed.  This approach is similar to that taken by Justice Holmes in B & O Railway Co. v. Goodman, where Holmes he placed the burden of avoiding a collision on any automobile crossing a train track, through his strict application of contributory negligence.
 Ironically, it was Justice Cardozo who, in Pokora v. Wabash Railway Company,
 recognized the importance of allowing a jury to look at each case’s special circumstances individually, and believed that sometimes it is in fact the responsibility of the defendant to avoid the accident.  In Adams, Cardozo’s approach seems to parallel the very approach that he later denounces as unfair.  In this context, Adams appears to represent an earlier moment in the evolution of Justice Cardozo’s perspective on the role of the judge and jury.  It was only unfortunate for Leo Adams that Justice Cardozo was, at the time, thinking more like Justice Holmes and less like his later self.    
Conclusion

More than twenty years after Leo Adams death,
 Adams v. Bullock is something of an institution in the world of first-year tort law.  Cardozo’s telling of the facts, if somewhat simplified, has created a vivid picture in the imaginations of law students for generations.  In examining Adams v. Bullock under a microscope, the reader is provided with a more complete picture of what happened and the context in which this case was presented.  Even when presented in such a cursory manner, as it necessarily is in torts casebooks, Adams is still a valuable case to study.  As a fascinating story, an excellent example of judicial creativity and how it shapes the law, and as an introduction to the fundamental principal of risk-benefit analysis, Adams has had an effect on the minds of many law students and lawyers.  While a more in-depth analysis of the issues presented adds to an understanding of the place of eminence Adams has taken in the teaching of tort law, it is not surprising that Justice Cardozo’s opinion, and the fascinating scenario that underlies it, have become a first year tort law institution.  
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� The Record on the Appeal, while containing all pleadings and briefs of the parties, does not contain opening and closing arguments of counsel.  While the trial transcript does not contain any references to possible alternate arrangements that would have been safer, it is possible that plaintiff’s counsel at least suggested to the jury possible solutions.  


� United States v. Carroll Towing Co., 159 F.2d 169 (2d Cir. 1947), which set down the basic principle of balancing foreseeable harm and possible ways to prevent such harm was not decided for almost three more decades.


� This possibility is underscored by the fact that, as can be seen from his instruction to the jury on point, Judge Cole appeared to be of this belief as well.


� Adams v. Bullock, 188 A.D. 948 (N.Y. App. Div. 1919).


� 82 A.D. 521 (N.Y. App. Div. 1903).


� 49 So. 772 (Ala. 1909).


� 144 P. 77 (Wash. 1914).


� While it is true that a person could accidentally have touched the wires with another instrument, it would have been virtually impossible for a person of less that six and one half feet tall to have directly touched the wires without the instrument.  As a person of five feet nine inches, the closest this author could come to making contact with something at such a distance below without falling was fourteen inches shy of where the wire would have been.  


� 111 S.W. 712 (Ky. 1908). 


� 50 A.D. 478 (N.Y. App. Div. 1900).  


� This author can attest to this fact, without needing the resources of a major company to investigate, by the simple fact of having grown up near an electrified fence and seen how even bright children felt compelled to touch it at least once.


� Dept. of Commerce and Labor, Bureau of the Census Special Reports: Street and Electric Railways 1907, 356 (Government Printing Office 1910).


� Id. at 506-08.


� 275 U.S. 66 (1927) (finding that, as a matter of law, a motorist must step out of his vehicle to look for hazards before crossing a train track, else he would be found contributorily negligent).


� 282 U.S. 98 (1934).  


� Leo Adams passed away in 1980, sixty four years after his accident.  Lorraine C. Smith, Bemus Point Cemetery (2002), at http://www.rootsweb.com/~nychauta/CEMETERY/Bemus1.htm.


   





PAGE  
2

